STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County
Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 05 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES WAYNE MILLER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000642

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County

Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES WAYNE MILLER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000642

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in denying Appellant's request for a continuance where "good cause" existed, in light of his serious medical condition, which rendered him unable to assist counsel, violating Appellant's right to due process of law?

- II. Did the trial court err by permitting Allison Foster to testify as an expert in child abuse assessment where her testimony improperly bolstered the complaining witness's credibility and there was insufficient evidence of the reliability of the subject matter of her testimony?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Kershaw County grand jury indicted Appellant for criminal sexual conduct in the second degree (2012-GS-28-1381) and incest (2012-GS-28-1382).¹ R. 602-603; R. 605-606. The state, represented by Kathryn Cavanaugh and Karlen Senn, called the case for trial on March 14, 2016, before the Honorable Tanya A. Gee and a jury. R. 1. Anna Good represented Appellant. R. 1.

The jury began its deliberations on March 17, 2016, at 1:50 p.m. R. 558, ll. 9-11. Within an hour, the jury sent a note requesting transcripts of the testimony from the complainant, complainant's mother, complainant's twin sister, from three police officers, a doctor, and the state's closing argument. R. 559, ll. 3-11; R. 598. The judge informed the jurors that transcripts could not be provided, but that testimony could be re-played. R. 560, l. 22 – R. 561, l. 3. She permitted the jury to discuss the request further, but did provide a computer so the jurors could watch videos as requested. R. 561, l. 24 – R. 562, l. 10. Approximately two hours later, the jury requested to hear the testimony from the complainant, her mother, and three police officers, along with the law on reasonable doubt. R. 563, ll. 2-13; R. 599. The judge re-instructed the jury on reasonable doubt. R. 565, ll. 6-22. The court reporter began playing the testimony for the jurors at 5:55 p.m. R. 567, ll. 16-20. At 7 p.m., the judge ordered a break for the jury to have

¹ According to the face of the indictments, the grand jury convened on October 17, 2012. R. 602-603; R. 605-606. However, the signature lines indicating the grand jurors true-billed the indictments were dated March 9, 2016. R. 602-603; R. 605-606. Further, the indictments were filed on March 9, 2016, with the Kershaw County Clerk of Court. R. 602-603; R. 605-606. Although the indictments were marked "Amended," there was nothing in the record to indicate why the indictments were amended or whether such an amendment required re-submission to a grand jury. Nevertheless, there were no objections made at the trial regarding the indictments or the grand jury process. However, this fact was important for the discussion on Appellant's motion for continuance.

dinner. R. 567, ll. 21-25. At 8 p.m., the court reporter resumed playing the testimony. R. 568, ll. 7-9.

During this time, a juror asked what would happen if the jury could not reach a unanimous verdict. R. 568, ll. 12-21; R. 600. The judge instructed the jury “if it’s not going to be an all guilty or an all not guilty, if you can’t come to a unanimous verdict, then I would have to declare a mistrial. When I declare a mistrial, nobody wins.” R. 568, ll. 22-25. She further explained the case would have to be “retried” in front of twelve other people selected from the same county who would receive the same evidence. R. 568, l. 25 – R. 569, l. 5. The judge expressed her “hope” that the jury would “continue to deliberate” and instructed them “to keep an open mind, to listen to each other and to continue to try.” R. 569, ll. 7-16. She told the jury to “try” their “hardest to come to a unanimous verdict because ... nobody wins when there’s a mistrial.” R. 570, ll. 17-19. At midnight, the judge allowed the jury to go home for the evening and reconvene the following day at noon. R. 571, ll. 5-9.

The following day, the jury requested to hear testimony from the doctor who examined Complainant, a hard copy of the definitions of the charges, and instructions on how to interpret the law. R. 572, l. 17 – R. 574, l. 6; R. 600. The judge provided the instructions to the jury in written form and then allowed the jury to hear the requested testimony. R. 578, l. 16 – R. 581, l. 6. Finally, at 3:45 p.m., the jury requested the definitions of cunnilingus and fellatio, which the judge provided. R. 581, l. 19 – R. 582, l. 3; R. 601. The jury returned with a verdict at 4:42 p.m. R. 582, ll. 19-20.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 583, ll. 7-19. After the jury returned its verdict, but prior to imposing the sentence, the judge noted that she thought her “sentence speaks for itself.” R. 593, ll. 16-17. However, there was “one thing” she thought was “important” to

say to Complainant: "I believe you. I believe you." R. 593, ll. 17-19. Thereafter, on March 18, 2016, the judge sentenced Appellant to twenty years imprisonment for criminal sexual conduct and ten years imprisonment for incest. R. 593, l. 20 – R. 594, l. 1; R. 604; R. 607. She ordered the sentences to be served consecutively. R. 594, ll. 1-2; R. 604; R. 607.

On March 24, 2016, Appellant filed and served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant met his future wife, Tammy, in third grade. R. 198, ll. 1-2. Tammy married Appellant when she was only sixteen years old. R. 198, ll. 8-9. At the age of seventeen, Tammy gave birth to twins, the couple's first children. R. 198, ll. 10-12. The pair went on to have three more children. R. 197, ll. 6-14.² Appellant worked construction, providing for his growing family. R. 200, ll. 8-12; R. 102, ll. 1-2. Tammy stayed home with the children, and even homeschooled them for the most part. R. 200, ll. 17-25; R. 101, ll. 1-21.

The couple's twins were girls – Complainant and Breana. Breana was “[v]ery passive, quiet. A follower.” R. 203, ll. 7-9. She enjoyed “[d]rawing and painting” and being inside with her mother. R. 203, ll. 14-16; R. 102, ll. 16-18. She helped “cook, clean” and with her younger siblings. R. 203, ll. 16-17. Complainant preferred to be “outside,” “[c]limbing trees, skinning foxes.” R. 203, ll. 20-24; R. 102, ll. 18-19. Appellant taught Complainant how to build things – “cut tile, cut wood, measure and put down laminate flooring.” R. 204, ll. 1-6; R. 104, ll. 2-8.

Around July 4, 2011, Appellant and his family visited friends in Camden. R. 204, ll. 11-20; R. 104, ll. 21-23. The family decided to move from Summerville to Camden. R. 204, ll. 15-18; R. 104, ll. 23-24. The family found a house on the lake in which they could move, but it needed a little work. R. 205, ll. 1-13. Tammy and all of the children except Complainant returned to Summerville to pack for the move. Appellant and Complainant stayed in Camden in a camper preparing the house for the family's eventual return. R. 205, ll. 14-19; R. 106, ll. 7-12. Within two weeks, the entire family was re-united in the house on the lake in Camden. R. 208, ll. 3-6.

² In 2006, Tammy's father went to prison when it was learned he had been sexually abusing one of the couple's sons.

When the family first moved in, Complainant and Breana, who were sixteen-years old at the time, “shared the big room” upstairs, the youngest daughter had her own room, and the two boys shared a third bedroom. R. 208, ll. 7-12; R. 210, ll. 13-14; R. 116, ll. 11-16. However, this arrangement did not last long because the twins could not get along. Eventually, Complainant got her own room, while Breana shared with her younger sister. R. 208, ll. 13-21; R. 118, ll. 1-21.

On August 11, 2012, the family planned to visit their friends, the Harrelsons. R. 224, ll. 22-25. However, Appellant and Complainant had an argument, and Appellant said Complainant was not permitted to go to the Harrelsons’ home. R. 226, ll. 5-13. Upset, Complainant walked to the end of the family’s dock over the lake. R. 227, ll. 2-6. Tammy went to talk to Complainant because she was crying. R. 227, ll. 7-25. When Tammy reached Complainant, Tammy asked, “[I]s he touching you?” R. 228, l. 1. Complainant responded, “[E]veryday.” R. 228, l. 2. Tammy then called her sister, who called the police to report what Complainant alleged. R. 228, ll. 10-12.

Eventually, Complainant alleged Appellant first sexually abused her while she and Complainant were staying in a camper in Camden while the rest of the family was in Summerville preparing for the move. She claimed she woke up “to [Appellant] performing oral sex on” her. R. 108, ll. 12-13. After pushing Appellant away, she ran to a bathroom. R. 108, ll. 17-20. She claimed Appellant apologized so she exited the bathroom and went to the couch. R. 109, ll. 10-23. However, at some point, she returned to bed and fell asleep. R. 110, ll. 1-6. Nevertheless, according to Complainant, she woke up again – this time to find Appellant on top of her trying to have sex with her. R. 110, ll. 6-7. According to Complainant, Appellant had sex with her, despite her protests. R. 110, ll. 17-23.

Complainant alleged the sexual abuse continued, even when the family moved into the house on the lake. R. 113, ll. 5-7; R. 114, ll. 11-15; R. 116, ll. 9-10. According to Complainant, Appellant had sex with her even while she was sharing a room with her twin sister, Breana. R. 117, ll. 9-19. Complainant alleged that when she got her own room, Appellant slept in her room every night. R. 121, ll. 19-21. Incredibly, according to Complainant, Appellant raped her in the houses where the two worked on remodeling projects, including when other people were present. R. 125, ll. 11-14; R. 126, ll. 2-21; R. 127, ll. 21-25. Essentially, Complainant alleged Appellant had sex with her whenever the two were together and even the slightest opportunity presented itself. R. 132, ll. 1-5; R. 133, ll. 6-14; R. 136, ll. 7-12; R. 142, ll. 1-3; R. 142, ll. 15-23. Despite what Complainant alleged were very open and easily detectable acts of sexual abuse, no one in Complainant's family knew of the abuse or observed a sex act between the two. R. 124, ll. 21-23.

Within two months of Appellant's arrest, Tammy had sold everything the family owned and moved to Pensacola, Florida. R. 242, ll. 15-23. Two months later, she was dating Jason Price, the man who would eventually become her second husband. R. 266, ll. 12-17. Six months later, Tammy sent Breanna and two of the younger children to live with Tammy's sister. R. 244, ll. 16-21. In 2013, Price moved in with Tammy and Complainant. R. 267, ll. 1-2. Complainant continued living with Tammy until 2014, when she moved in with her boyfriend. R. 244, ll. 23-25; R. 245, ll. 4-10.

Eventually, Breana got married and moved to California. R. 246, ll. 5-9. Complainant married too, and moved to Virginia. R. 246, ll. 5-9; R. 97, ll. 16-25. Tammy filed for a divorce from Appellant in 2014, and the pair was divorced in 2015. R. 266, ll. 4-11. Tammy married Price in June of 2015. R. 197, ll. 15-19.

ARGUMENT

I. Violating Appellant's right to due process of law, the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's request for a continuance where "good cause" existed, in light of his serious medical condition, which rendered him unable to assist counsel.

Relevant facts

On March 14, 2016, when the state called the case to trial, defense counsel moved for a continuance. R. 9, ll. 10-11. Counsel explained Appellant suffered from chronic back problems, which had escalated in the last week to the point where he required surgery. R. 9, ll. 12-16. On March 3, 2016, Appellant saw his doctor regarding his severe back pain. R. 9, ll. 16-18. The doctor prescribed hydrocodone for the pain and ordered an MRI. R. 9, ll. 18-19. On March 8, 2016, the MRI was conducted. R. 9, ll. 19-20. The results of the MRI were presented to the trial judge. R. 9, ll. 20-23; R. 595. According to the analysis of the MRI, Appellant suffered from "[l]eft central disc herniation at L 4/5, extending behind superior endplate of L5." This herniation caused compression of the thecal sac. R. 595. Additionally, Appellant suffered from "[r]ight foraminal disc herniation at L5/S1, compressing right L5 nerve root." R. 595. The doctor described this finding as "significant." R. 595. The MRI revealed spondylolysis at L5 as well. R. 595. Appellant suffered from facet degenerative joint disease "at L5/S1 bilaterally." R. 595. This disease, while painful in and of itself, contributed to compression of the L5 nerve root. R. 595. Finally, the MRI revealed "[m]odic type I endplate changes, far right lateral, at L5/SI," which the doctor described as "an inflammatory response" and capable of causing pain. R. 595. The day following the MRI, Appellant was prescribed oxycontin for pain. R. 10, ll. 4-6. Two days later, on March 11, his doctor gave him another steroid and prescribed Lortab for pain. R. 10, ll. 6-8.

Defense counsel explained that Appellant was “struggling here just to sit.” R. 10, l. 9. According to Appellant’s aunt and girlfriend, he had “been out in the car blacking out.” R. 10, ll. 12-14. Counsel expressed her concern with Appellant’s ability to receive a fair trial in light of his inability to assist in his defense:

[B]ased on the combination of medications that they have him on and based on the fact that he does need surgery to fix this as well as if he’s blacking out, ... he cannot aide me in any way and help in cross examining or questions I may need to ask because he would know this case better than I would when it comes to some of the questions as to the victim or the family members who may be testifying against him.

R. 10, ll. 16-24. Counsel continued to express her concerns with Appellant’s “capability” “to help in his defense based on the medication” and his level of pain. R. 10, l. 25 – R. 11, l. 3. Counsel noted that Appellant was unable to walk or stand, and had to use a wheelchair to get into the courtroom. R. 11, ll. 4-5.

Counsel acknowledged the case had been pending for over three years, but explained this date was the first time the case had been called for trial. R. 11, ll. 6-9. Although the state previously set trial dates, including a date certain, the state sought additional time due to the availability of witnesses. R. 11, ll. 8-12. Additional delays were due to the case being transferred from one solicitor to another and additional investigative work being conducted. R. 11, ll. 12-16. Counsel noted the defense had never requested a continuance in the case. R. 11, ll. 16-18.

The solicitor agreed with defense counsel’s procedural history of the case. R. 11, l. 25 – R. 12, l. 17. According to the solicitor, she was assigned to the case in November of 2015. R. 12, ll. 2-3. At that time, the case was set for trial on December 14, 2015; however, the solicitor noted some evidence had not been tested and she wanted the tests completed. R. 12, ll. 3-11. The solicitor informed defense counsel the case would not be called to trial as planned. R. 12, ll.

11-13. Thereafter, defense counsel and the solicitor agreed the case would be tried on March 14, 2016, and a trial notice was sent. R. 12, ll. 13-17. Objecting to the continuance request, the solicitor explained the state had “flown three witnesses in, one the victim and her sister and her mother. The sister lives in California. We have flown Breana in from California. We have flown [Complainant] in from Virginia and Ms. Miller, Tammy Miller from Florida.” R. 12, ll. 20-22. The solicitor acknowledged that on the Friday prior to the case being called for trial, defense counsel informed her of “something major going on with [Appellant’s] back.” R. 13, ll. 2-6. Without offering any proof, the solicitor argued “the timing is extremely inconvenient for this trial. It happened - - I don’t even know exactly what caused the severe back pain, but all of it started occurring last week, the week before trial.” R. 13, ll. 13-15; see also R. 14, ll. 11-12. The solicitor further argued against the continuance request because Appellant had not provided anything from a doctor stating he required “emergency back surgery.” R. 13, ll. 15-18.

Thereafter, the solicitor cited McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003) and claimed the case stood for the proposition that “antiseizure medication did not render the defendant incompetent to stand trial.” R. 13, ll. 19-24. The solicitor also referenced State v. Weik, 356 S.C. 76, 587 S.E.2d 683 (2002) for the competency standard, which the solicitor asserted was “whether the defendant has the present ability. Just as long as he has the present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and whether he has a rational understanding of the proceedings against him ... that he is able to stand trial and that the defendant bears the burden of proving his lack of competence by the preponderance of the evidence.” R. 13, l. 24 – R. 14, l. 9. The solicitor claimed, again without proof, that Appellant had been competent “for the past three and a half years.” R. 14, l. 6.

The judge denied the continuance request. R. 15, ll. 16-17. The only reason given was that the case had been pending since 2012. R. 15, ll. 17-18. The judge explained she understood Appellant was “in pain” and promised to take breaks “as necessary.” R. 15, ll. 18-19. The judge noted her recent surgery, and expressed that she would do her “best to accommodate” Appellant “with regard to his back pain,” but found his condition was “no reason to continue this trial.” R. 15, ll. 19-23.

When the trial resumed the following day, defense counsel renewed her motion for a continuance. R. 33, ll. 4-5. Counsel explained that Appellant had “been in the emergency room all night in Columbia” and “still ha[d] not been seen.” R. 33, ll. 5-7. Counsel again expressed her concern with Appellant’s ability to proceed to trial based on the medication he was taking, his lack of sleep, and his physical pain. R. 33, ll. 11-14. Offering no reasoning, the judge denied the request. R. 33, ll. 24-25.

During the trial, defense counsel explained that the jail had refused to permit Appellant to take the prescription medication while being detained at the jail during the pendency of the trial. R. 482, ll. 4-8; R. 482, ll. 19-22. Further, counsel, while providing the medications to the judge, requested the judge instruct the jail that Appellant be permitted to have his medication or take the medication in court. R. 482, ll. 4-8. The judge then instructed that two of the five prescription medications, which had been presented for her examination, be transported with Appellant to the jail and that he be permitted to take one of the pills at that moment during the proceedings. R. 483, ll. 2-24. Thereafter, the judge engaged in a colloquy with Appellant regarding his right to testify. R. 484, l. 13 – R. 486, l. 18.

Discussion

The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. XIV. “The authority of the court to grant continuances and to determine the order in which cases shall be heard is derived from its power to hear and decide cases. This adjudicative power of the court carries with it the inherent power to control the order of its business to safeguard the rights of litigants.” Williams v. Bordon’s, Inc., 274 S.C. 275, 279, 262 S.E.2d 881, 883 (1980). The South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provide that the presiding judge may grant a continuance based upon “a showing of good and sufficient legal cause.” Rule 7(c), SCRCrimP. As such, “[t]he granting of a motion for a continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.” State v. Yarborough, 363 S.C. 260, 266, 609 S.E.2d 592, 595 (Ct. App. 2005). “An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” State v. Irick, 344 S.C. 460, 464, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); see also State v. Funderburk, 367 S.C. 236, 239, 625 S.E.2d 248, 249–50 (Ct. App. 2006)(“An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law”).

“It is axiomatic that determination of [a motion for continuance] must depend upon the particular facts and circumstances of each case.” State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012)(quoting State v. Babb, 299 S.C. 451, 454-455, 385 S.E.2d 827, 829 (1989)). While “[t]here are no mechanical tests for deciding when a denial of a continuance is so arbitrary as to violate due process,” the decision must rest upon “the circumstances present in every case, particularly in the reasons presented to the trial judge at the time the request is denied.” Ungar v. Sarafitr, 376 U.S. 575, 589 (1964).

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