RECEIVED

JUL 05 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000642

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES WAYNE MILLER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

(R. 426-428). Thereafter, Dr. Foster was admitted as an expert in child abuse assessment before the jury and testified in a similar manner to her proffered testimony, including testimony

pertaining to delayed disclosure and the behavioral patterns commonly associated with juvenile victims of sexual abuse. (R. 429-451).

On appeal, Appellant contends the trial judge abused her discretion in allowing Dr. Foster to testify because “there was no evidence that Foster’s conclusions and claims were accurate or reliable.” Additionally, Appellant claims Dr. Foster’s testimony was intended to improperly bolster Victim’s testimony. However, Appellant’s claims are without merit, as Dr. Foster testified regarding the reliability of her field of study and the testimony did not improperly bolster Victim’s testimony. Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse her broad discretion allowing Dr. Foster to testify as an expert in child abuse assessment. Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Trial courts have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge’s ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.”); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.”); see also State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 556, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010) (“[D]eference is due to the trial court’s admission of the evidence.”).

Likewise, a decision as to whether to admit or exclude expert testimony rests within the trial judge’s sound discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent a prejudicial abuse of that

discretion. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006); see State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009) (“A trial court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.”). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000); see Fields v. Reg’l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (“A trial court’s ruling on the admissibility of an expert’s testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion when the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.”).

“Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert’s specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.” Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). “Expert testimony differs from lay testimony in that an expert witness is permitted to state an opinion based on facts not within his firsthand knowledge or may base his opinion on information made available before the hearing so long as it is the type of information that is reasonably relied upon in the field to make opinions.” Id. at 445-46, 699 S.E.2d at 175. “The qualification of a witness as an expert falls largely within the discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Myers, 301 S.C. 251, 255, 391 S.E.2d 551, 554 (1990).

Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, expert testimony is admissible under the following circumstances:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE; see also State v. Irick, 344 S.C. 460, 465, 545 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2001) (explaining an expert's testimony is admissible where "it is relevant and based on some factual predicate in the record"). Before admitting expert testimony, the trial court must find (1) the expert's testimony will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert has the required knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education; and (3) the testimony is reliable. State v. Martin, 391 S.C. 508, 513, 706 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2011); see also State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 572, 541 S.E.2d 813, 819 (2001) ("Scientific evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, if the trial judge determines: (1) the evidence will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert witness is qualified; (3) the underlying science is reliable, applying the factors found in State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 259 S.E.2d 120 (1979); and (4) the probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.").

A witness can properly be qualified as an expert where "the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury's good judgment and common knowledge." State v. Henry, 329 S.C. 266, 273, 495 S.E.2d 463, 467 (Ct. App. 1998). In determining whether a witness's knowledge, skill, training, or experience qualifies the witness as an expert, no mandatory set of qualifications is required. Henry, 329 S.C. at 274, 495 S.E.2d at 467; see State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 554-555, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996) ("The criteria for admitting the testimony of an expert is not whether the expert holds a degree in the specialty field he seeks to testify about, but whether he has such expertise in a business, profession, or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony."). Instead, an expert can become sufficiently skilled or knowledgeable to be able to provide an opinion helpful to the

jury in a multitude of ways. Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 556, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86 (2008). Significantly, “[t]he test for qualification [as an expert] is a relative one that is dependent on the particular witness’s reference to the subject[.]” and “defects in the amount and quality of education and experience go to the weight of the expert’s testimony and not its admissibility.” Lee v. Suess, 318 S.C. 283, 285-86, 457 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1995).

In addition to ensuring the expert is qualified, the trial court must also ensure the testimony “meets a threshold level of reliability, regardless of whether it is scientific or nonscientific.” State v. Tapp, 387 S.C. 159, 165, 691 S.E.2d 165, 168 (Ct. App. 2010). In cases involving scientific expert testimony, the trial court should consider the following factors: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 19, 515 S.E.2d 508, 517 (1999). However, in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony, the factors applied in an analysis of scientific evidence cannot readily be applied. See State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 688 (2009) (“The foundational reliability requirement for expert testimony does not lend itself to a one-size-fits-all approach, for the Council factors for scientific evidence serve no useful analytical purpose when evaluating nonscientific expert testimony.”). Accordingly, no formulaic approach can or must be applied to determine reliability in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony. Id.

In sexual assault cases, expert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims, and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts, is relevant and helpful in explaining to the jury the typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault. State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999).

Notably, this type of expert testimony assists the jury in understanding some of the aspects of victims' behavior, and provides insight into a sexually abused child's often strange demeanor. Id. See also State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015) ("Certainly we recognize that there is such an expertise [child abuse assessment]: this is the type of expert who can, for example testify to the behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims.") (citing State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993); Weaverling, and State v. White, 361 S.E. 407, 605 S.E.2d 540 (2004)) ; State v. Smith, 411 S.C. 161, 767 S.E.2d 212, 217-18 (Ct. App. 2015) (cert. denied June 17, 2015) ("When sexual abuse occurs, particularly if the victim is a child, the victim may not be able to immediately disclose the abuse for numerous reasons, including the victim's feelings of shame over what happened and the victim's fear of or intimidation by the perpetrator. We find this was an appropriately general explanation [by an expert witness] of the medical or scientific reasons a child might not immediately disclose sexual trauma.")

This Court most recently addressed the propriety of expert testimony pertaining to child abuse assessment or dynamics in State v. Jones, 417 S.C. 319, 790, S.E.2d 17 (Ct. App. 2016), reh'g denied (Aug. 18, 2016), a case strikingly analogous to the case at bar. In Jones, Jones appealed his convictions for one count of first-degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor, one count of second-degree CSC with a minor, and two counts of lewd act upon a child stemming for his years-long sexual abuse of his live-in girlfriend's two minor daughters. Id. During his trial, the State presented an expert witness who testified regarding child sex abuse dynamics; this expert had never met with any of the witnesses in this case, including law enforcement, and her only knowledge of the case came from discussions with the solicitor's office one month prior to trial. Id. at 326, 790 S.E.2d at 21. On appeal, Jones argued the circuit

court abused its discretion by allowing the State's witness to testify as an expert in child sex abuse dynamics because the subject matter of her testimony was not beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, the State failed to prove the reliability of the substance of her testimony, she improperly bolstered the victims' credibility, and her testimony was highly prejudicial. *Id.* at 323, 790 S.E.2d at 19. This Court rejected these arguments, finding the trial court properly admitted the expert's testimony. *Id.* Regarding Jones's challenge to the reliability of an expert witness, including that the State failed to prove the reliability of the expert's testimony—specifically whether it was subject to peer review, this Court rejected Jones's arguments (similar to the arguments Appellant raises in this case), finding the expert testimony regarding her methods were published in articles in professional journals and other publications, subjected to peer review, uniformly accepted and recognized within the area of child sex abuse experts and professionals, and relied upon for sexual abuse counseling and treatment, that the abuse center where the witness worked applied the same principles she explained in her testimony, and that those types of principles were being used by counselors across the country. *Id.* at 331-33, 790 S.E.2d at 23-25.

As to the Jones's claims the expert testimony improperly bolstered the victims' and their mother's testimony, this Court rejected his arguments, finding:

[The expert] never commented on the credibility of Mother or the Victims, but rather offered admissible expert testimony regarding the general behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims and nonoffending caregivers, we find her testimony did not improperly bolster their testimonies. The fact that her testimony corroborated some of the Victims' reasons for delaying disclosure of the abuse, or Mother's failure to act when she became aware of it, does not mean [the expert]'s testimony improperly bolstered their accounts. See *[State v. Brown]*, 411 S.C.332, 345, 768 S.E.2d 246, 253 (Ct. App. 2015)] (stating “[t]he fact that [the expert’s] testimony corroborated some of the minor victims’ reasons for delaying disclosure of the abuse does not mean her testimony

improperly bolstered their accounts”); see also Weaverling, 337 S.C. at 474, 523 S.E.2d at 794 (“An expert may give an opinion based upon personal observations or in answer to a properly framed hypothetical question that is based on facts supported by the record.” (quoting State v. Evans, 316 S.C. 303, 311, 450 S.E.2d 47, 52 (1994))). [The expert] merely offered reasons why children might delay disclosing instances of sexual abuse, as well as why a nonoffending caregiver may have an unusual reaction upon learning of the abuse, to assist the trier of fact’s understanding of the complex dynamics of sexual abuse cases. Accordingly, we find the circuit court properly admitted [The expert]’s expert testimony because she did not improperly bolster the Victims’ testimony, or Mother’s testimony, at trial.

Jones, 417 S.C.at 335–36, 790 S.E.2d at 26.

In the present case, similar to Jones, Dr. Foster testified that her methods had been published in professional journals and publications and were subject to peer review, and were nationally-recognized. Furthermore, Dr. Foster’s testimony never commented on the credibility of Victim, but rather, was limited “admissible expert testimony regarding the general behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims.” The trial judge did not abuse her broad discretion in admitting Dr. Foster’s testimony at trial. Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

Moreover, assuming arguendo that the trial judge abused her broad discretion allowing the expert testimony of Dr. Foster, such error is harmless and had no impact on the jury’s verdict, particularly in light of the overwhelming evidence the State presented establishing Appellant was guilty of second-degree criminal sexual conduct and incest. Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. See State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490, (2013) (subjecting the erroneous qualification of a forensic interviewer to a harmless error analysis); see also Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 420 S.E.2d 834 (1992) (stating error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it did not contribute to the verdict obtained); State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 165, 467 S.E.2d 272, 277 (Ct.App.1996) (“In applying

the harmless error rule, the court must be able to declare the error had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial and the court must be able to declare such belief beyond a reasonable doubt.” (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967))). The key factor for determining whether a trial error constitutes reversible error is “whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.” State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012) (internal citations omitted). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” Tapp, 398 S.C. at 389, 728 S.E.2d at 475 (quoting State v. Mitchell, 378 S.C. 305, 316, 662 S.E.2d 493, 499 (2008). “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it ‘could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.’” Id. (quoting State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971))).

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